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NEWS AND COMMENT 
J AMES H. RODi\R .'~ UGH 

NorJltwesrenlOhio 

Local history in Northweste rn Ohio, as in many other 
sections of our country, has suffe red considerable neglect. The 
interests of its historians scem to have concentrated on the 
earlier phases of the history of the lake shore and the princi­
pal river valleys. "Ve may find numerous writings on W ayne 
and his conquest of northwestern Indians and a number on this 
part of the state in the W'ar of 18 t 2. But adequate studies of 
the social and economic life of the various communities of 
Northwestern Ohio arc lacki ng. To point to but one interest­
ing and valuable topic which ought to be developed, the sub­
ject of poplliation groups within the area may be suggested. 
From what parts of the United States or from what countries 
did the people come? V/hen did they come? 'Why did they 
leave the lands of their nativity or previous settlement? 'What 
institutions di d they bring with them? '¥hat were the influences 
of the variolls groups u"pon the cultu ra l, economic, and poli­
tical Ii fe of their communities ? This is but one interesting his­
torical problem, but it is in the answer to this and to the many 
other p roblems that we find the key to an understanding of 
ou r country and its people. To fi nd the answers we must rely 
upon the development of a local interest in the prese rvation 
of all sorts of historical reco rds. The encouragement of such 
an interest and the leadership in the preservation of such rec­
ords ought to be a responsibility of local historical societies. 

The Trustees of ou r Society at their last meeting decided 
on a campaign for new members, necessary to support the en­
larged BlIlIetin . This move is timed with t he more active in­
terest in our Democracy and its hi storical foundations which 
the Bulletin will seek to foster. At the same meeting Mr. 
Edmund T. Collins of Toledo was appointed a committee o f 
one to cooperate with the Committee on Private Research of 
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Cleveland in protecting archaeological and historical sites from 
indiscriminate digging. 

T he problem of Fort M iami is sti ll in suspension, but one 
encouraging and cheering event may stimulate action. The 
Ursula Wolcott ChaEter of the Dal$hters of the American 
Revolu tion, Toledo, has generously offered its "homesite 
fu nd" of more than three thousand dollars fo r the purchase 
of the site of Fort M iami , providing the county commissioners 
raise the balance of [he sum necessary to purchase the six-acre 
plot. This fund, known as the Mary E. \Velch Fund, was 
started in 1895 and enhanced by teas, receptions, lectures, and 
othe r money-raising projects. 

Unfortunately the present war emergency seems to be 
affecting some plans for local historical acti vities a.nd will force 
a readjustment to a new program. At its second meeting held 
on Apri l 23, the Fort Defiance H isto rical Society decided to 
postpone until after the war its extensive project for a large 
Fort Defiance festiva l celebration planned for the week J uly 
4· 11. Mr. Ra lph Peters, of the committee on the celebration, 
suggested an alternative program of displays and exhibits. 
Representatives of the Society we re el ected for Paulding, 
Bryan, and Henry counties. These we re Mr. Reid Burt of 
Melrose, Mr. Na t Belknap of Napoleon, J udge J ohn S. Snook 
of Paulding, and Mrs. Carl King of Bryan. At the close of the 
business session, Rev. Frank L. Shaffer, of the Defiance Grace 
Episcopa l Church, read a paper entitled "History of Fort 
W inchester and the Development of the Community"; Mr. 
Walter May of Oakwood discussed " Historic Fort Brown" 
and suggested the acqu·isition of other historical sites after the 
war; and Mayor Davis B. J ohnson of Wauseon spoke on the 
subject " Importance of Historical Socie ties." 

The Seneca County Historical and Archaeological Asso­
ciat ion has moved its museum from the old ' Baldwin home in 
Tiffin to a n~w location at 28 CI~y Street. According to Dr. 
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New Home of Museum at Tiffin 

A. C .. Shuman., its Curator, the new museum is a fifteen· room 
house which was built in 1856. It was the home of R. 'vV. 
Shawhan, pioneer business man and bui lder of the Shawhan 
Hotel. The structure was given to t he Association by Mr. 
Lynn Troxel of Tiffin. The displays are arranged systemati. 
cally. There are two natural hi sto ry rooms, an antique room, 
an antique furniture room, a library room, a foreign relic room, 
a farm implements room, and a household utensils room on 
the first floor. On the second floor are located an art room, a 
children's room of relics, a war relics room, and a pIOneer 
home room. 

The Ottawa County Historical Society reports its mu· 
seum activities continua lly expanding. Nearly all o f the states 
of t he Union and JTlany. foreign countries are represented in 
the display in the Ottawa County Historical Museum which 
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consists of pioneer equipment, fire arms, textiles, china and 
glassware, Indian relics, fossils, and ' other articles. The So. 
ciety, of which Mr. E. C. Hostrup is President, in cooperation 
with the Port Clinton city council, the DeLery Portage Chap. 
ter of the Daughters of the American Revolution, and various 
citizens, established the Historical Museum which is located 
in two rooms of the City Hall. The city council furnishes fi. 
nancial support. 'Miss L. May Hessclbart is Curator of the 
museum. 

Mr. Harry E. Kinley, Secretary of tbe Wyandot Na· 
tional Museum at Upper Sandusky, informs us that hi s museum 
has recently installed five new large plate glass show cases. 
A number of new museum pieces have been received during 
the past months. At the last meeting of the board of trustees 
a committee composed of Mr. Ira Sterner, 'Mr. Ead Brewer, 
and Mr. :J. lID . . Stevenson was named to cooperate with the 
Committee on Private Research, located at ,"Vestern Reserve 
University, for the preservation of historical sites. 

Prof. W. A. Amstutz, of the Bluffton H isto rical Society, 
reports that he is working with Mr. H. G. -Murray on a listing 
of names of early settlers buried in the old pioneer cemetery. 
Such a project 'has already becn started in the Mennonite cerne· 
tery at Bluffton. 

The Allen County Historical Society at Lima met on 
April 17 to hear an address by .Mrs. Martin M. Sondheimer 
on her experiences as a German refugee. Mrs. Sondheimer wi th 
her husband and their two children left Germany in 1938, 
going first to Holland, then to England, and later coming to 
th is country. For the past two years they have ,lived in Lima. 
Like Defiance, Lima has found the pressure of war too great 
to permit the centennial celebration mentioned in our last issue, 
which was ,to :have been observed this spring. 

The Hayes Memorial acquired a collection of rare manu· 
scripts important to the history of Northwestern Ohio. The 
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group of around fifty pieces is composed chiefly of Rev. J ames 
B. Finley papers in relation to the Wyandot M ission at Upper 
Sandusky. The most important item is the ma nuscript of Fin. 
ley's H istory of the pl/yandot Mission writ\en in his own hand. 
There are four annual reports of the M ission for the 1830's 
and a statistical inventory of the property, implements, and 
stock of about the same time. Miscellaneous papers include 
letters of Nathan Bangs, Bishop William M cKendree, L ewis 
Cass, Col. John Johnston, and Thomas L. M cKenney, an ac­
count of the ordination of John Stewart, a Negro missionary 
who preceded Finlay among the Indians, the official document 
giving Fi.nley his Indian name, and Fin ley's translation of the 
Lord's Prayer into the vVyandot language. 

On April 29 tbe Toledo Dental Society met to observe the 
centenary of Toledo dentistry. Dr. J. N . Cassell s, the first 
recorded professional dentist in Toledo, arrived in AugUst 
1841, and stayed a month. An advertisement in the Blade pre­
paring the city for his visit announced: "His mode of plugging 
teeth with metallic paste which enters the teeth in a soft, putty­
like form, without irritation or pain, and becomes perfectly 
solid in the short space of 24 to 48 hours .. is universally ac­
knowledged to surpass anything ever before used fo r that 
purpose. " 

The Collector, a magazine for autograph and manuscript 
collecto rs, carries an interesting article in the June 1942 issue 
on James Riley, the..founder of the village of Willshire, Van 
"Vert County. Captain Riley was shipwrecked oil the coast of 
Africa in 1815 , and captured and enslaved by the A rabs for 
eighteen months. H e was.ransomed by William Willshire, Brit· 
ish consul at Mogadore, in 1816, the year his Authentic Narra­
liw of the Loss of the American Brig ((Commerr-e" on tke 
Wesurn COa.J1 of Africa was first published in London. This 
account of his captivity passed through several editions and 
was a best-seller in its day. In a letter of July 3, 1824, repro-
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du ced in the article, Riley tells of se ttling in Van Wert County 
in 1821, and of layi ng out the town of vVillshire in 1822. The 
letter is an excellent account of life on the frontie r of western 
Ohio. 

Ohio 
The Western Reserve H istorical Society of Cleveland 

celebrated its seventy-fifth annive rsa ry this year by moving 
into two fine old homes on East Boulevard N.E. The library 
in which is preserved a fine co ll ection of Americana, manu­
scripts, .documents, and newspapers, is situated in an old Flor­
entine style home acquired from Leonard I-lanna. The museum 
is next doo r in the twenty-six-room mansion once the home of 
the la te P rice McKinney. Perhaps the two most impor tant in­
di\,id uals in the development of the institution, onc of the fin­
est local historical societies in the country, are Dr. vVallace H. 
Cathcart, Director since 1913, and Dr. Elbert J. Benton, Dean 
Emeritus of the Graduate School of 'Western Resen'e Uni­
versity, who has served as the Society's Secre tary since 1913 . 
President L au rence H. Norton is responsible fo r the re nas­
cent museum of today through the acquisition of the new bui ld· 
ings which house the Society. 

The M useum E cllOtS, monthly publication of the Ohio 
Sta te Archaeo logica l and Historical Society, is carrying a 
series of articles entitled "This Ohio of Ours," .p repared by 
members of the staff . 

The Committee on Early Ohio Paintings recently formed 
by Western Rese rve University, the Cleveland Museum of 
Art, and the vVestern Reserve Historical Society has sent out 
a call for all early Ohio portraits and paintings. Any informa­
tion ava ilable on early painti ngs should be sent to William S. 
Dix , Committee on Private Research, ""estern Reserve Uni­
versity, Cleve land, Ohio. The Committee is eager for an 
opportunity to see the paintings and to photogr~ph them for 
permanent .preservation. 
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VIGNETTE OF A PIONEER 
THE REVEREND EDWARD HANNIN 

E mVARD FRANCIS M OHLER 

If the world justly honors an explorer who had shown the 
way to a new continent or even an island on our globe. 
what reverence is due him who guides men by the uerring 
light of faith to the realms of eternity?-lames Cardinal 
Gibbons 

In ou r all-too-iron ic age it is refreshing to renew our spirit 
at the W ellsprings of g reatness. This is a respectfu l effort to 
portray a great figure who lived most of his life in northwest­
ern Ohio and whose deeds and personality arc a permanent 
contribution to Ohio civilization. 

In County Sligo, IrI~ land, on December 22, 1826, there 
was born to Bartley and M argaret (Tighe ) H annin, the third 
of eight ch ildren, a son who was given the name Edward.1 The 
Hannins wefe prosperous farm ers and they had the perennial 
Irish love for education. Bartley Hannin erected on his own 
land at his own expense, a school for the use of his own and 
his neighbors' children. Edward H ann in went to that school. 
later continui ng in one of the nea rby technical schools. On the 
completion of courses which gave him some knowledge of 
engineering and architecture, he was appointed Engineer in 
the State Department of Public Works. 

The Potato Blight of 1845 and the subsequent famine 
years played a conside rable part in the life of Edward Hannin , 
as they did in the lives of many other Irishmen. When busi ness 
fell off Edward was dropped from the Public W orks roll s. 
He went to Liverpool and found work there for a time:. On 
returning home with some small savings, he was shocked to 
find conditions worse. The Hannin family went into conference, 
and resolve~ that Edward should go to America, as many 
Irishmen were then doing. where he might be of more help 
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The Reverend Edwa rd Hannin 
1826·1902 

( Reproduced from best obtainable photograph) 
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to hi mself, his family, and his neighbors. And so another en­
terpri si ng young Irish boy set out for the New \\Torld. 

O n May 20, 1849, Edward Hannin arrived in New York, 
and soon found work as best he could. In the beginn ing he 
ma y not have made much progress, but he soon made fr iends 
among his fellow workers. H e was quick of mind, pleasant, 
and a bit of a wi t. Then some nameless cl erical fr iend turned 
Edward's mind tow~rd the priesthood , and more and more 
this lively young Irishm an began to wonder about the service 
which joins man to God. 

Truth to tell, he was poorly prepared to un dertake such 
a life, since all his traini ng and experi ence had been along 
mechani ca l lines. La tin and Greek he had none, yet La tin and 
G reek he must acquire. Off he went to Geneva, New York, 
and with the help of friends, some not Catholics, he laid the 
foundation for a priestly career. Hard work and courage 
brought many rewards. One particularly fine recompense was 
the discovery of a definite literary talent which brought joy 
throughout his life. 

Most Reverend Amadeus Rappe, D. D. , Bishop of Cleve­
land , accepted Edward, and sent him to St. M ary's Seminary. 
Because of the need for priests in no rthern Ohio, but also be­
cause of the exceptional industry and talent which he devoted 
to preparation, he completed the courses in three years and 
was ordained June I , '1856. The young priest was given many 
things to do; but the first great undertaking which awaited him 
shaped the rema inder of his life, and in turn el1abled him to 
help shape the development of a great city and the lives of 
many of its people. H e was sent to Toledo to establish a new 
parish. 

The construct ion of Ohio rai lroads and canals, as well as 
their extension and operation, had brough t to the southern 
part o f Toledo great numbers of Irish workers. In course of 
time some of them had become lost in unfami lia r, primitive 
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su rroundings. Father H ann in was surprised but not disturbed 
to find that little preparation had been madc for his coming. 
But he was an organizer. From 18 62 to 1867 ll C was intensely 
active, building in that short time a church seating 500, a three. 
story school and rectory, and acqui ring an eighteen-acre ceme­
tery in Air L i.ne Junction. The new pai"l:sh, St. Patrick's, ex­
tended from J efferson Avenue sou th wa rd as far as Watervi lle 
and Grand Rapids. 

On the resignation of Bishop Rappe, Father H ann in was 
ca ll ed to Cleveland to act as Admin istra tor of the diocese . 
F rom 1870 to 1872 that was his wo rk. 2 Du ring a somewhat 
stormy and distu rbed two years, he constantl y longed for St. 
Patrick's; and when the Most Reverend Richard Gilmour, 
D. D. was designated Bis hop of Cleve land , Father H annin 
retu rned to T oledo. Back to the work of developing 11 is par­
ish, of getting to know his people, of making himself of service 
to all that needed him went Father H annin. St. Patrick's In­
sti tute, a large recreat ion center, was begun in 1873 and com· 
pleted the following year. On St. Patrick's Day, 1874, Most 
Reverend Richa rd Gilmour, D. D., in the presence of the hon­
orable 'VilJiam Allen, Governor of Ohio, and a great assemb­
lage of guests opened the I nsti tute to the service of the pub· 
lic. 3 How actively a,nd humanly and wholeheartedly Father 
H annin continued as a priestly man may best be told from the 
viewpoint of one who attend his church and school and knew 
him well . 

As a small child in the vague days before I entered his 
parochial school at Avondale and Thirteenth, 1 had been hear­
ing about the Reve rend Edward H ann in. Almost all those who 
li ved on "God's I-1 i11 " thought that few people rated cl assifi­
cation with Father H ann in. M any of the stories which passed 
around we re conce rned with the fa bulous H ann in name. Some 
o f the reputed achieveme nts of this ma n seemed unbel ievable 
even in that far·off day. A few yea rs close to him were sufh-
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cient to prove that with such as he all things were possible , 
even the impossible . 

In the 1890's) entering St. Pa trick's School was a step of 
unusual moment. The school as well as the parish was the life 
work of one man. To the littl e .people who were then making 
their first fum bing steps at education , th is tall ascetic, haloed 
with awesome achievements, was a portent to be dreaded, 
respected, and, maybe at long last, loved. 

H e might have stepped from the pages of the Old Testa­
ment along with J eremiah and his hol y threats and predic­
tions; he might have been one of the nimbus-crowned visions 
of the Apocalypse. No matter how you cared to measu're him, 
he was not an o rd inary personality ; his ~as n~t the stature 
of run-of-the-mill humans. Taller , sparer , more vi tal and alert 
than most of the people about him ; commanding, even dom i­
neering ; spiritual, exa lted of both mind and mein; setting a 
personal example which stimulated courageous souls to reach 
high, he lorded it over the less stu rdy, lashing them at times 
toward their own betterment even against their wills. 

Imagine the somewhat timorous ch ildren of anot her gen­
eration entering into this presence! It had to be done, of 
course , because the chi ld ren of his parish had to go to his 
school. But was it something to be welcomed, to be taken on 
with t he nonchalance of a boy wi th an "all-day sucker"? To 
meet this man, to be in day-to-day contact with him, might ruin 
a child with fri ght, or it might tumble a great figure into the 
dust as the prying eyes of observing youngste rs detected fau lts. 

W ell, the ordea l was over---or it was beginning. A goodly 
number of us entered St. ~atrick's School. D uring the very 
first recess period Father Hannin was in the school yard. The 
things he did and said soon made us feel that he loved ch ildren, 
liked to be wi.th them and 2.lay their games, that he was ready 
to reward as well as punish. And it did not take us long to 
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discover that the pun ishment came immediate ly, effectively, 
and from righ t and left ha nds of equal weight. 

A tall, ascetic-looking figure, dressed month in and month 
out in a long, duster-like coat which gradually grew shabby, 
he walked among us with mili tary bearing. His shoulders were 
held well back and his chest was proudly out. First 11e would 
run afte r the girls, showering them with dippers of water to 
wet down their prissy dignity and make them run for a bit of 
exercise. Then after havi ng had thi s bit of elemental fun, he 
would stump over to the boys' side of the yard, shouting: 
" Boys, hold you r ches ts so you can carry sacks of flour on 
them!" H e would thwack his own fine chest and add as he 
paraded in quick, short steps: " This is the way I mean, my 
child re n ;. see how I am doing it I" 

Not so terrible after all for someone out of the Old Tes­
tament. Diffidently we began to like him. As the days wore on 
he gave us plenty of other th ings to think about, and our talk 
became concatenations of " Father-Hannin-th is" and "Father­
Hann in-that ." We came to know that our lives at his school 
could never be routine; we had been gathered under the wings 
of greatness. 

Sadly we have been hunting, many of us, for his like but 
he is not to be found. T oo many have been reachi ng, grasp ing, 
even clawing fo r the abnormalities and complications which 
blow to bits the simple, legitimate desires of normal men and 
women. 

The quickl y shifting panorama of opening week gradu­
ally slowed down to an orderly array o f school work. Monday 
morning came around and Father Hannin was in the school 
wanti ng t9 know from Sister Mary Bernard the names of the 
boys and girls who had. no t attended Vespers on Sunday after­
noon. There were only a few, and they, poor souls, were in 
the throes of a deep fear. The boys were regretting the pleas­
ures of Sunday afternoon when they had gone down to the Sun 
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Brothers' t rain ing barn to watch the world- famous McCreas 
polish up their riding acts fo r the "Big Top"; or maybe J oe. 
E. Brown (yes, even he of today's H oll ywood ) who lived 
around the corner from the church, had come home, and they 
had watched with open-eyed wonder as he turned inn ume rable 
somersaults. These visions faded before the stern words of 
Father Hannin. 

"Line up, boys !" J udgment was at hand. One by one the 
boys were ceremoniously draped over a chair, their knees 
tucked in to present a drum-taut pants-scat to the disciplin­
arian. And a rul er was laid on with a smart commentary such 
as : " My boy, I'll give i t to you (w-h-a-c-k) where nature in­
tended it should be given to you (w-h-a-c-k)." Another lad 
was speeding toward goodness and li ght on the straight and 
narrow path , accompanied by his own very real pai n and his 
classmates' equally real , though smothered, pleasure. The girls, 
almost hysterical with fear and humiliation, trembling, tearful, 
and protesting, had to exund their hands. Wi th artfully con­
cealed gentleness the stern old man admin istered-a slight 
slap. But th.e punishmen t had been given by Father H annin 
and their gi rli sh worlds crashed abou t them. So, dissolving in 
th ei r woe, littl e girls came to know the meaning of appli ed 
Chri stianity. 

In a world which was beginning to approach the mechan­
istic and materialistic idolatry which marks the twentieth ce n­
tury, this ol~ pastor was in love with the things of the spi rit. 
To him Holy ,",Vrit was not only the reco rded 'Word of God; 
it was likewise a brilliant collection o f literature and a vital 
message. When he read the selections from the Epistles and 
Gospels from the pulpit, he had a patriarchial d ignity, a glow­
ing face, a voice ove rflowing with unction such as comes with 
deep Jove. The meaning, the rhetorical graces, the rhythm, 
antithesis, and balance of the Bible he displayed for anyone 
with half an ear to hear, with half a heart to love. 
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It was a treat to hear him open tile sonorou:; Gospel of St. 
John, 

"In the beginning was the Word; And the Word was with 
God; And the Word was God. The same was in the be­
ginning with God. AU things were made by Him ; and 
without Him was made nothing that was made. [n Him 
was life; And the life was the light of men. And the light 
shineth in darkness; And the darkness did not comprehend 
it." 

Father Hannin anticipated by ge nerations the need of 
and progress toward social legislation. I have already refe rred 
to St. Patrick's Institute, a three-story, brick recreation center. 
To.pped by' a statue of the great St. Patrick, st,anding 9n a bit 
of the ve ry rock of Cashel, this project offered a fine hall, bil­
liard rooms, bowling alleys) and a library to att ract boys from 
the streets and keep them from the saloons. Pridefully pastor 
and parish used it as a center of life and enjoyment. But it 
passed with time. It was too fa r in advance of contemporary 
thought, for one thing; and, for another, plans for Father 
H an nin's new chu rch began to take shape. The Institute was 
discontinued as a recreation center and made into a temporary 
chu rch. 

Into the building of that new church, which still stands 
in magnificent protection over St. Patrick's Parish, Father 
Hannin put all the drive, vigor, ingenuity, and cajole ry that 
one man could muster. There must be plenty of money; it came 
from everyone, from everywhere; his money, his people's 
money, hi s Protestant friends' money. The impressive granite 
monoliths along the aisles of St. Patrick's Church bear testi­
mony in the names of many who were not Catholics. Here is 
a story to the point. One blustery day Father Hannin was 
sta lking along downtown Toledo when a friend met him and 
asked: "Why are you so cheerful, Father Haimin?" 'i\Taving 
a piece of paper in the ai r , Father Hannin repli ed: "Why not, 
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when I have $uch gO,!d Protestant friends as this one I" The 
check was for $500 and had been signed by General C. M. 
Spitzer, one of the city's leaders." 

St. Patrick's Church had Father H<J.nnin's p,ersonal sup­
ervision; his early t rai ning was put to good use. As the church 
grew he delighted in explaining its wonders, and as the day of 
dedication came closer, he must ha ve His Excellency, Arch­
bishop J ohn Ireland of St. Paul, as orator of the day. Remark­
ably enough, the Archbishop arranged to come, and he deliv­
ered a tremendous oration before some two thousand people 
who, for the greater part, we re the Protestant friends of 
Father Hannin. To explain the wonders of Father H ann in's 
church would take more sp.ace than is here permitted. 

At the door of his great church I can see Father Hannin, 
clothed in the vestmel'!ts for Requiem Mass, ready to officiate 
at a funera l. H e had come out front to make sure that the 
bereaved family was making no vainglorious display of car­
riages. Six carriages we re the limit; if there were more the 
drivers were ordered to take them away. Not until his order 
was obeyed, and the ext ra carriages we re diven away did the 
sevices begin. There was an irony here that he maX not have 
seen-the costly church and the prohibition aga inst funereal 
glory. There was to come another irony which he must sure ly 
have eqjoyed hugely il] H eaven. Father Hannin's own funera l 
was one of the most tremendous outpourings of humanity in 
public and .private conveyances that Toledo had ever wit­
nessed. There was not a hack to be had on the rbv h .. was 
buried. By hundreds and hundreds they fi ll ed the streets ; on 
and on they came in a great serpentine toward the church. 

Some parish wit could contain himself no longer and burst 
out: "Sure, there be all the carriages Father Hannin ordered 
away from his church. Every one of them is back for his 
funeral 1" 
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Father Hannin's friends were both the humble and the 
mighty, Catholic, Protestant, and Jew. Peopl~ were the best 
instruments to be used in the service of other people, and he 
used them great and small for his purposes. H e could go 
where he would; he could get what he wan.ted. The seeming 
finality of "No I" might halt the non-persistent, hut it could 
never satisfy him. When he set out to do good nothing could 
stop him, nobody could shout him down. 

The mighty and the lowly alike were honored when he 
made usc of them. The Honorable "Villiam M cKinlev: "Gol­
den Rule" Sam J ones, Mayor of Toledo and tutor of Brand 
Whitlock on the way to political greatness; the Ve ry Reve rend 
Ignatius Horstmann, D. D., Bishop of Cleveland; H is Ex­
ce ll ency Archbishop John Ireland of St. Paul; James Cardinal 
Gibbons, American labor's determined and understanding 
friend; Father Matthew, Ireland's Apostle of Temperance; 
Valentine Ketcham, dean of T oledo's early bankers; Ben 
Raitz, Chief of Police; t he Kinnans, the Waldings, the 
Seco rs, the Spitzers, the Ne~tons-i ndu striali sts, businessmen, 
and bankers; pavers, stevedores, and mail clerks; hod carriers, 
blacksmith, and plasterers-all these and many, many more 
were woven into the dr_earns and deeds of Father H annin. 

Those who look back on St. Patrick's in Father H annin's 
time, look back on a world of remarkable achievement in the 
building of institutions and men. There were huge, rough jobs 
to be done, and ,Father Hannin was always in the midst of 
them. H e engaged himself in quieting the barbaric life of a 
g rowing city when its rapid, jungle-like spread sheltered and 
loosed beasts of prey,. By sheer might of will he brought a 
gradual ordering of tempest and uproar into peace and rest 
that self-respecting citizens might li ve, play, and work. 

During a life which reached more than the Biblical three­
score-and ten, Father Hannin was a crusader for many things. 
He was an advocate of total abstinence. An abstainer himself, 
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he worked with consistent and unrelen ting vigor toward ab· 
sti nence among his people. Fi rst Communion classes took the:: 
pledge en masse. Not fo r a moment would he hesit ate:: to enter 
any home .where drink was causing trouble. H e would run t he 
"stuff" down the drain and tonguelash the indulgers. Hilarious 
parties were Ie::ss on the bestial side after his scourging visita­
tion. 

The sto ri es which have clustered about the memo ry of 
Father Hannin run li terally into the hundreds. For many of 
t hem there is histo rica l foundation. H ere is one of the truer. 
In the 1890's Toledo's harbor was lined with grain d eva tors, 
and the endless loading and unloading of grain boa ts required 
the sweating toil of trimmers . Payday often meant ructions in 
the water-front sa loons. Father Hannin "covered the water 
front," and would enter these hangouts to get donations for 
his church as well as to keep an eye on some of the boys who 
had a reputation fo r throwing money and discretion to the 
winds. On one of these visits Father Hannin was subjected to 
a bit of boisterous fun and teased again and again to "Be a 
good fella , Father, and have a bit of a d ri nk with the boys I" 
Sensi ng the possibilities of a shrewd lesson and a big donation 
for the new church , he made a proposition. 

"Boys, [ will take a drink and provide..a dri nk for every 
one of you, if you will each make a donation to my new 
church." Miracle o f miracles! Father Hannin was going to 
take a drink and in a sa loon I Money pi led on the bar before 
t he happy-hea rted, shiny-eyed priest. Eve ryone was alert for 
hi s next move. Even the tipsy were momentari ly sobered. 
Slowly, with such nicety of timing as would have done credit 
to a great actor, Father Hannin gestured magnificently to the 
bartender and let them have it where it hurt : 

" John, give me and give eyery one of these fine, generous 
lads a big glass--of clear, cold water I" He took his own drink, 
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and swept out, carrying with him not only their donations, but 
also their undying admiration. 

Father Hannin loved child ren. H e took them as he found 
them and tried to mould t bem to the highest service. But he 
treated girls as girls and boys as boys. He was not the so rt of 
modern who would act as though he thought the masculine 
of "girl" might be "boil." He worked with the child ren of 
hi s school personally ; taught them their catechism, played 
their games, marched them ou t for di splay to the citizens of 
Toledo on every occasion which would warrant it, and some 
that did not I First Communion Qay meant a parade of the 
children and Father Hannin about the streets of the parish. 
St. Patrick's Day mean t a sti ll greater d isplay of the children. 
L ed by a green-dad drill team and band they marched, and 
Father Hannin, sleekly dressed for once, was the best marcher 
of all. None knew better tha n this practical psychologist that 
the most successful approach to adult hearts and minds was 
through the children; none more fully realized that the best 
way to better adults was through the better children who we re 
to be adults. 

His boys and girls could have the best. Their school plays 
were given in the famous Valentine Theatre, donated for the 
occasion for the use of Father H annin's "kids." Their picnics 
and boat rides were held at places and by means which Father 
Hannin's many friends provided. 

With all his works, practical and idealistic, Father H an­
nin never had an assistant. H e could not be bothered; had to 
do all the work of the parish himself; would not have anyone 
else around. Inasmuch as so many of his ideas were original 
and highly individual, that may have been as well. But this 
man's long roll of works had to come to an end. It came one 
day in 1902, while he was saying Mass at the high altar of 
St. Patrick's. His th in, enfeebled body sagged, and J oseph 
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Sweeney, se rver , used his teen-age strength to help his old 
friend from the sanctuary after Mass. 

The news went out that Father Hannin, who had not 
known illness within the memory of most, was dying, and St. 
Patrick's Parish became one of the saddest places on earth. 
Included among the stricken were those who had fought him 
and hi s plans. They, too, were silent. His four perennial coun­
cilmen, James Connolly, P. F. Whalen, Thomas Degnan, and 
John Fitzpatrick were lost souls. 

After hovering about for several days, Death touched 
him and he was gone. But his soul and his works and person­
ality nothing can touch. H e has left his mark on the City of 
Toledo. 
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THE NATURAL GAS ERA IN NORTHWESTERN 
OHIO 

RUSSELL S. MCCL U RE 

In November of 1884 in the town o f Findlay, Ohio, the 
optimism of a small group of speculators was rewarded. A 
wildcat well drilled into the rocks of that community found 
liberal quantities of natural gas, and led t he way to further 
discoveries that soon demonstrated the presence of onc of the 
world's great gas reservoirs . . Rapid development of the re­
serves ensued, and for a time the fortunes of a large section 
of Northwestern Ohio were enormously augmented by the 
occurrence of qne of the spectacular gas "booms" of all ti mes. 

In many sections of the field, oil was a companion product 
to the natural gas, and in fact was considered in some quarters 
to be of greater importance than the latter. Inasmuch as the 
exploitation of the oi l resources was carr ied on as a practically 
separate development , differing strongly from natural gas in 
its repercussions on the region, this paper will deal only with 
the story of natural gas. 

Prior to the development of the new-found fuel resourcei, 
Northwestern Ohio was yet engaged in a process of metamor­
phosis from a pioneer to a farming community. Cursed by 
faulty natural drainage, the area had been notorious as "The 
Black Swamp." Naturally well drained soils were originally 
found only in restricted and widely separated areas: Along the 
banks of the major streams; in occasional sandy rises, or 
"beach-ri dges," laid down in glacial times; and, rarely, along 
the extremely rocky limestone ridges that are occasionally en­
countered. l Conditions of this sort lo ng precluded any possi­
bility of supporting a large agricultural population on these 
lands; and the desirability of the area for settlement was 
further reduced by the prevalence of ague, ma laria, and occa­
sional outbreaks of cholera, occasioned largely by the lack of 
satisfactory sanitation. 2 Reclamation of swampy lands was 
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undertaken early in the development of the territory, mainly 
at the initiative of private individuals, but progress on such 
a gigantic task was necessarily slow. In 1850 the state legis­
lature empowered the counti es to provide public ditches in 
connection with tbe road-building program; but in rhe ab­
sence of adequate capital reserves the project was only par­
tiaUy completed at the time of the discovery of natural gas. 3 

The development o f the small urban centers of the region 
was likewise retarded. Findlay, Fostoria, Bowling Green, Fre­
mont and T iffin in 1880 were small , placid country towns. Fre­
mont, the largest, boasted a population of 8,446. Growth de­
pended solely on the slow, but ste~dily increasing prospe rity 
of the rural hinterland. A majority of the populace in each 
of these towns was engaged in fa rm service occupations, either 
in the sa le of supplies or in the coll ection fo r shipment or sale 
of farm produce. Manufacturing proceeded in a small way , a 
representative center having one or two machine shops, two 
or thre~ small flour mills, a few woodworking and sash-and­
door plants, a few wagon shops, a lime kiln or two, a variety 
of small shops engaged in the production of agricultural im­
plements, a brick and tile yard-, and of course the inevitable 
cigar factory." In the absence of well developed transporta­
tion, each community was relatively self-contained. Poverty 
nnd unemployment were rare-as was great wealth. 

The people of Northwestern Ohio had long been aware 
of the presence of gas in the bedrock of the region . Seepages 
were found to occur in certain outcrops of the native limestone, 
emanating from joint-cracks in the rock . E vidences of gas were 
especially notable around Findlay, along the rocky floor of the 
Blanchard Ri ve r and two or three of its major tributary 
creeks. S1;tallow water wells which penet rated the thin mantle 
of glacial drift sometimes tapped gas veins and had to be 
abandoned. The same th ing happened frequently in digging 
ditches and in excavating for building foundations. 
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One of the first recorded experiences with the gas was 
that of Daniel Foster, a resident of Findlay, in 1838.11 In a 
well dug on his premises at the corner of Main and Hardin 
Streets, gas appeared in some quantity. The well had to be 
abandoned as the water was too sulphurous to utilize. In 
order to obtain at least small recompense for his labors, Mr. 
Foster inverted a sugar kettle over the well and piped the gas 
to his house, where he burned it in the fireplace through an old 
gun-barrel. Others recorded similar experiences, though the 
use of gas was a rarity. \Vood remained the universal fueL 
Small boys sometimes entertained. themselves with the loud and 
spectacular explosions they could contrive; and somet imes un­
suspected accumulations of gas were exploded accidentally by 
the unwary. Because of occasional injuries from this source, 
and because of its extremely unpleasant odor (sulphuretted 
hydrogen in the gas gave it a characteristic "rotten egg" 
smell), the gas was for long regarded as a nu isance. Its value 
as a fuel, despite demonstrations to the contrary, was ignored 
by the majority. 

The first to come to a realization of the possible signifi­
cance of these indications was Dr. Charles Oesterlin, a resi­
dent of Findlay.6 The presence of sizable reservoirs of natu ral 
gas, he realized, would prove of major benefit to the fortunes ' 
of Northwestern Ohio. As early as 1864 he endeavored to 
interest his neighbors in a project to construct containers in 
which to store the gas, in order that it might be used for illu­
mination. No one could be found who was willing to risk capi­
tal in the venture, however, and the project was dropped. 

In the period from 1870 to the early i 880's, the spec­
tacular developments in the petroleum fields of western Penn­
sylvania began to attract nationwide attention. The discovery 
of immense stores of oil and gas, the large personal fortunes 
that began to emerge from that field, and the benefits accruing 
to that region from access to the new resources profoundly 
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stirred the popular imagination. To increase the value of these 
discoveries, natural gas, which had theretofore been considered 
simply a waste byproduct of oil, was found to be ideal for 
industrial fuel, as well as for domestic lighting and heating. By 
1880 this product was being extensively used-in Pittsburgh. 

Drilling spread in all directions from the Pennsylvania 
fields , promoted by outlying communities hopeful of sharing 
in the bonanza. In the Spring of 1884, as a part of th is move­
ment, interests in Bucyrus, Ohio contracted with a drilling firm 
of Bradford, Pennsylvania, to sink a well for exploratory pur. 
poses. Inasmuch as popular interest in petroleum had been 
rising, the newspapers publicized this venture widely; and the 
news came to the attention of Dr. Oeste rlin. His interest was 
reawakened, and he again began to promote the exploration of 
the rocks beneath Findlay. By this time the people of Findlay 
were more aware of the issues at stake ; and spurred by a small 
town rivalry between Bucyrus and Findlay, Oesterlin soon suc­
ceeded in attracting the support of a small group of local ca.pi­
tal ists. A corporation was formed, and arrangements were 
made with a firm of Pennsylvania d rillers to commense opera­
tions in Findlay.? 

Work was begun on October 20, 1884, on a tract on the 
east side of Eagle Creek, just beyond the corporation limit of 
that day. Small volumes of gas were encountered at several 
horizons as the drilling progressed, enough to furnish ample 
power for the work. Finally, at 1,092 feet below the surface. 
in the upper levels of the Trenton limestone se"ries, a very 
much larger flow of gas was· encountered. No exact measure­
ment of the volume was made, hut it was later estimated at 
approximate ly 200,000 cubic feet per day. For lack of equip­
ment with which to control the flow, it was lighted for a time. 
and pr~duced a Rame twenty to thirty feet in height. 

Excitement in F indlay knew no bounds. Though the pro­
duction of this Pioneer well was small as compared to that of 
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later giants, the display of power as demonstrated in this first 
attempt was sufficient to encourage further drilling. By the 
end of 1885, twelve well s had been completed in Findlay, and 
early conjectures as to the possib le size of the field were re· 
vised progressively upward. The largest of these early wells 
measured 3,500,000 cubic feet daily; and though two of the 
twelve showed signs of becoming oil pro(fu~e rs , all we re reo 
markably steady in their production. 

Then, on January 20, 1886, the th irteenth well was 
brought in. 8 This producer, the famous Karg we ll , far sur­
passed any of its older brethcrn. Shortly after it was completed 
it registered over fourteen million cubic feet at the casing, and 
over twelve million cubic feet from a four-inch pipe with which 
it was fitted. Its strength far su rpassed the expectations of the 
drill ers ; and because of the difficulty of cont roll ing it with the 
equipment at hand, it was set afire in accord with common 
practice. 

The Karg well marked the turning point in the develop. 
ment of the fie ld . The tremendous roa r of the escaping gas, 
and the great light cast by the leaping flames (which on a 
cloudy night could be seen for more th.an forty miles), made 
a spectacular display that caught at the imagination of the 
public t hroughout t he country. Special trains were organiz.ed 
to ca r ry sightseers to Findlay, whue it was noted with de light 
that the hea t of the flames was so great as to keep the grass 
green and g rowing throughout the winter for a radius of one 
hundred yards around the well . F indlay did not fail to make 
great capital of its attractions. By dint of a strenuous adver­
t isi ng campaign, plus a prodigal display of gas lighting in the 
town, both in the homes and along the stree-ts, large crowds 
of people, plus a number of manufacturers, were attracted. 

Immediatel y upon the completion of the Pioneer well , 
the new company had set about laying a pipeline through the 
streets of Findlay, hopi ng to employ the new-found resource 
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in successfu l competition with the product of the loca l Artificial 
Gas Light and Coke company. Soon naural gas was in use, at 
a very low price. The older company,_'however, soon saw the 
value of the new fuel , and began drilling a well of its own in 
December 1884. Upon completion the gas was turned into 
its existing lines, but these proved unsatisfactory, and .a second 
pipe-l ine had to be laid. Then began a period of spirited but 
unequal competition, which ended shortly with the pu rchase of 
the Pioneer interests by the Artificial Gas company. Rates were 
set well below coal prices , and the company settled down to 
the business of supplying the domestic requirements of the 
town. 

But the situation was still fa r from stabilized. As evi­
dences of the great size of the gas reserves multiplied, t here 
arose among consumers a feeling of dissatisfaction with p' rivate 
ownership of so important a resource. Despite the prevailing 
reasonable rates, the cry of monopoly was raised, and a storm 
of agitation developed out of the fear that unscrupulous own­
ership might restrict the benefits of a natural fuel supply. A 
referendum was held , and a large majority voted for munici­
pal ownership. The municipality obtained .permission from the 
legislatu re to erect and mai ntain a city gas plant, and soon .was 
laying yet a third set of pipes through the streets of Findlay. 
There ensued another brief competitive scuffle, this time be­
tween the town and the private corporation. Rates were re­
duced to a ridiculously low level , it being possible at the climax 
of the battle to heat a house for $ 1.05 per year. The affair 
was finally settled with the purchase of the private holdings by 
the municipality.9 

'''ith the change from private to public ownership, there 
occurred a drastic shift in the utili z.ation of the gas. Rates were 
sha rply cut. It had, of course, been to the advantage of the 
private owners to provide a fair margin of profit fo r their 
shareholders. H ence, their rates, though well below those for 
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equivalent amounts of coal, tended to restrict gas consumption 
to domestic heating and lighting requirements, or to use by 
those small industrial concerns already on the scene. T he fuel­
cost differential between Findlay and other centers was not 
sufficiently in favor of Findlay to bear the expenses of plant­
transference, and consequently few man:ufacturers fe lt inclined 
to move. 

Public management, on the other hand, was interested 
only in a return sufficient to retire the obligations occasioned 
in building the new plant, and to cover tne maintenance of 
equipment. It was hoped, however, that substantial benefits 
would accrue to Findlay in other ways. First, taxpaying con­
sumers would find thei r net incomes increased each yea r by 
the reduction in the cost of fuel and light. Second, sizable 
gains should derive from the influx of inaustry, labor, and 
capital that would be attracted by· practically free fuel. 

The optimistic assumption that industry would be at­
tracted by free gas proved correct. JO In 1886, soon after the 
establishment of municipal ownership, and adoption of the free 
gas policy, the influx began. In that year there arrived three 
glass factories, an iron fou ndry, two woodworking plants, and 
a cigar factory. This ,preliminary success further stimulated 
the rising tide of optimism; and the first months of 1887 saw 
a large increase in the population of Findlay, coupled with a 
period of intense speculation. Land values soared. HarperJ 
Magazine for July 1888, quotes a Findlay citizen as follows: 
" Its people have caught the divine afflatus which came with 
the discovery of natural gas. 

"Further, if Findlay had only natural gas she would be 
the peer, if not the superior, of any municipality on earth­
and in all things has no equal, or superior, between the oceans 
and the lakes and the gulf, and is marching on to the grandest 
destiny ever prepared for any people ,. in any land, or in any 
period, si nce the morning sta rs first sang together, and the 
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Rowers in the garden of Eden budded and blossomed fo r man. 
"In fact, this she has been doing in the past .two years, in 

the grandest and most satisfactory way, and that she will 
continue to progress is as certain as the stars which hold their 
midnight revel around the tbrone of Omnipotence." 

After a short time the intensity of speculation waned 
somewhat, but the concentration of industry continued with 
increasing force. Between the advent of natural gas and the 
yea r 1890, the following array of industry had located in Find­
lay: fourteen glass plants; five day-working establishments, 
induding brick and tile yards; eleven iron working shops of 
various types; five manufacturers and servicers of drillers' 
supplies; seven woodworking and furniture plants; three lime 
manufacturers; and a va riety of enterprises engaged in the 
production of miscellaneous goods. By 1890, the gas fie lds near 
Findlay were showing disturbing signs of weakness; and as 
the city trustees had fai led to proyide for such an emergency 
by ob taining reserves in other portions of the Trenton field, 
growth came to an abrupt halt. By frantic efforts they suc­
ceeded in obtaining new supplies, and were able to maintain 
those factories that were already in Findlay, though only for 
a time. Between 1884 and 1890, the ,population had increased 
many fo ld, from an estimated 4,750 in 18 84 to 18 ,553 in 
1890. 11 

Developments in Findlay had not fa iled to inspire keen 
interest and ambition in rival urban centers of Northwestern 
Ohio. Exploratory wells were soon drilled in Bowling Green, 
followed by Lima, Fremont, Fostoria, and Tiffin, among the 
larger towns, and it was not long un til the limi ts of the field 
we re defined (See Map) . Gas was found to exist in the Tren­
ton limestone as far north as Bowling Green, and as far as 
fifteen miles east of Findlay and Bowling Green. Owing to an 
abrupt fold in the Trenton, the western bounda ry of the gas 
was more sharply defined, extending along a fairly straight 
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axis between these two centers. Only minor success attended 
the prospecting south o f Findlay, though to the southwest, in 
the Lima di strict, and again just to the west of the Findlay 
" Break," large oil pools were discovered in the course of the 
sea rch fo r gas. In fact, oil often appeared in conjunction with 
the gas; and as the development of the field progressed, some 
of the earlier gas well s became oi l produce rs. 

Of the towns mentioned above, Findlay alone was situ­
ated directly over one of the more productive sections of tbe 
gas rese rvoir. Bowling Green lay just north of a large pro­
ducing area. Fremont found itself about ten miles east of the 
field , and about fifteen miles from the best gas territory. Fos­
tori a likewise was situated some distance from gas territory, 
being nea rly fifteen miles from the F indlay field , and about 
five from the later Bradner distri ct. Tiffin seemed at first to be 
more fo rtunate, finding gas directly benea th the town; but the 
supply proved to be small and shortfived, and it became nec­
essary to turn to the largc.r fields some twenty miles to the 
west. 

Bowling Green wa~ the second center to engage in drill­
ing, and for a time was second only to Findlay in the import­
ance o f its discoveries. Tn January 1885, the Bowring Green 
Natu ral Gas Company was organized, rqade up of local inter­
ests. Their first search was conducted on land within the co r­
poration limi ts. The first well found only a small supply of gas, 
but was torpedoed in M arch and the supply increased.12 This 
wcll was not accurately measu red , but is believed to have been 
less than 100,000 cubic fee t . The gas was at once util ized in a 
nearby fl our mill, and arr angements were made to int roduce 
the new product as household li ght and fue l in the town. 

In the following twelve months, five other wells were put 
down by the BowlingG reen Natural Gas Company. W ells num­
ber 2, number 3, and number 4 were small, but number 5 was 
as large as the first. These two were for a time the mainstays 
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of the company. Fortunately, despite the discouragingly in­
significant resu lts of its searches, the company persisted in its 
exploration. By J anuary 1886, 153 stoves, one furnace, and 
134 lights were dependent upon natura l gas ; but the supply 
proved to be insufficient in cold weather. The superintendent 
estimated productinn at only 150,000 cubic feet daily, while 
200,000 were needed. The crisis passed, however, afte r a sixth 
well was drilled a mile south of Bowling Green in March 1886, 
and its output surpassed al the rest combined. It was immedi­
atey piped into town. Two others were drilled sti ll further 
south, in Portage Township, the second of which ( nu.mber 8) 
was the most vigorous of all, with an initial production of just 
under a million feet daily. 

The company adopted a policy of setting its price at a 
level approximately two-thirds that of any other avai lable 
fuel. Though these rates were perfectly satisfactory to domes­
tic consumers, they were too high to att ract industry to the 
town, pa rticularly in view of the policy then being followed by 
Findlay. In orde r to bring indus try to Bowljng Green, there­
fore, the municipality was forced to follow the precedent set 
by Findlay. The legislature granted permission for the project, 
and, profiting from the earlier experience of the private con­
cern, the municipality immediately leased lands in Portage 
Township. 

As the growth of the town seemed assured, a real estate 
boom developed, real property prices advanced 100 to 300 
per cent., and an influx of fo reign capital began. Foremost 
among the industries attracted by free gas and land were the 
glass interests. 111 Five factor ies were establi shed, and were 
soon employing over 500 labo rers. Other interests included 
woodworking plants, lime-burning establishments, IIIIiCflIne 
shops, and Aour and feed mills. The population by 1890 had 
increased to 3,467, from an estimated 1,650 in 1885. 14 
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Fremont, almost immediately upon receipt of the news 
of the Findlay success, became optimistically excited over its 
own prospects. At thi s early date, as a result of experience in 
the western Pennsylvania fie lds, it was an accepted hypothesis 
that petroleum deposits alwa ys fo llowed a northeast line. It 
was theorized that the Findlay discoveries we re in a north­
easterly extension of the Cincinnati Arch, and should pass 
d irectly beneath Fremont as a part of the same geological for­
mation. 

Drilling began in May 18 85, on the initiative of the local 
artificial gas company. At a depth of approximately 450 feet, 
a fai r supply of gas" was found in the Cl inton limestone, but 
upon access to the Trenton, seve ral hundred feet lower, that 
rock proved to he practi call y lacking in gas. Fu rther search 
confi rmed these resu lts. Good wells in the Clinton limestone 
consistently p roduced some 10,000 fe et per day. Fremont had 
to content itself with small amounts of Clinton gas for occa­
sional domesti c use, but was forced to depend for large quanti­
ties upon the Northwestern Ohio Natural Gas Company, a 
subsid ia ry of Standa rd Oil, which extended a pi pe-line from 
the W ood County fields to Fremont. 1 5 • 

Among the industries att racted to Fremont after the pro­
vision of natura l gas for fuel was the Elyria Shear Works, 
wh ich changed its n;lmc to Clauss Shea r ,"Yorks afte r estab­
lishing in Fremont, in 188 6. This concern was the fore runner 
of the present concent ration of the cutlery industry in that 
center. At t he same time, the Thompson-Houston Electric 
Light Company established a branch, which was later bought 
out hy the National Carhon Company. Also on the lines we re 
two drop forge shops, one or two machine shops, and two flour 
mills. No attempts were made in Fremont at this time that 
compared with the open subsidization of industry in the gas 
centers to .the west. 
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Fostoria ea rly made a determined effo rt to locate gas 
wi thi n its boundaries, but met with failure. The first well 
drilled fQund the T re nton limes tone pract ica lly devoid of gas. 
A second, just west of the corporation limits, was sl ightly bet. 
ter; but li ke the first, the supply was too limited to be of prac­
tical value. Further exploration soon established the incon­
trovertible fact that the closest rese rvoi r of any size was 
nearly five miles to the west of the town, at the Godsend water 
tanks.16 

After the fail ure to fiind gas beneath Fosto ria, the North­
western Ohio Natural Gas Company int roduced gas from its 
large wells to the west, in Cass and Bloom Townships, for 
domestic use by the to wn. Rates were not un reasonable, but 
were sufficiently high to prevent successful competition with 
Findlay and Bowling Green in attracti ng indust ry. Because of 
this, the municipality obtai ned permission from the Legislature 
to establ ish a municipa l gas plant in Fos toria. Properti es we re 
obtained, ma in ly in Perry and Washington T ownships, wi th a 
few small tracts in Bloom Townshi p. "Veil s were soon drilled 
on these acreages, and a six-inch pipe.l ine, nine mil es in length, 
was laid, incl udi ng a "belt·line" around the corporation. Im­
mediately' therea fter, gas was offered to man ufacturers pract i­
cally free of charge., wi th grants of land and in some cases 
stock-subscriptions thro wn in. Before long, the expected wave 
o f prosperi ty began to materialize. 

The production of gl<\ss proved to be the most popular 
use fo r natu ral gas, in Fosto ria as in Bowling Green and Find. 
13y.17 By the latter part of 1887, three glass companies had 
estab lished themselves; and by the autum n of 1890 this num· 
ber had been increased to seven. Among these produce rs was 
the Fostoria Glass Comgany, long since removed from north­
western O hio, but which became famous at that time for t he 
ma nufacture o f " Fostoria \;Yare", an exceedingly high quality 
table ware. Others dependen t on the line in addition to the 
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glass factories were a milling company, the electric light works, 
a buggy ma nufacturer, three lime kilns, two brick-and-ti le 
yards, and s~veral small machine and woodwo rking shops. The 
total amount of natura! gas used daily in manufacturing in Fos­
toria was estima ted by Professor Orton, State Geologist of 
that time , at not less than 7,000,000 feet. Of this amount, the 
glass interests used some 5,500,000 feet. During thi s period, 
the population of the town increased from an estimated 3,700 
in 1885 to 7,070 in 1890. 18 

Tiffin began to drill in 1885, about a year after the Find­
lay discovery. The fi rst well, which reached the Trenton lime­
stone in J anuary 1886, was unsuccessful, and the enthusiasm of 
the prospecto rs was temporarily dampened. But shortly t here­
a fter, the well of Loomis & Nyman, a local machine shop firm, 
was drilled in the center of the town. It responded with an 
estimated 60,000 cubic feet of gas daily, enough to supply 
three or four boilers, and spiri ts rose again. HI Tiffin soon 
proved to be situa ted directly above a gas reservoir of unde­
termined size, and a number of other wells we re drilled in the 
hope of finding really important gas accumulations. Unfo rtun­
ately, this apparently favorable situation proved only tempo­
rary. Though drilling was carried forward energetically in 
1886 and 1887, no gas lands were d iscove red beyond the com­
paratively restricted and sha llow rese rvoir directly beneath the 
town. After only a few weeks of open Bow, the Tiffin wells 
without excepJion began to produce oil o r saltwater, or both, 
instead of dry gas. An occasional well brought in two or three 
barrels of oil per day, but the amounts we re too small to pay 
the cost of further d rilling. 

Even before optimistic drillers had become finally dis­
couraged about the prospects at T iffin, gas had been introduced 
to the town from H ancock County t hrough the pipes of the 
Tiffin Natural Gas Company, a subsidiary of t he N orthwestern 
Ohio Company. Gas was offered to domestic consumers and 
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manufactories alike , but the rates were too high to permit 
Tiffin to compete successfully with other centers in which the 
fuel was municipal!y owned. The inevitable result folowed: 
pubic ownership of a gas supply was urged and adopted almost 
unanimously. The city gas Trustees at once obtained rights to 
prospective gas lands, mainly in Bloom and Perry Townships 
in Wood County. Unfortunately, $20,000 expended on some 
1,200 acres in Perry Township was largely lost because of the 
tendency of the wells the re to produce oi l and salt water along 
with the gas. However, from other areas enough gas was ob­
tained to supply a numbe r of industries. 

The city laid a pipe-line approx imate ly nineteen miles in 
length , from the Wood County fields , and at once began to offer 
free fue l along with "other necessary inducements." By 1890, 
nearly $250,000 had been expended by the Trustees, but mean­
while the investments had begun to show returns. For by 1890, 
more than thirty manufactories of various sizes we re depend­
ent on the city lines. Three comparative ly large glass plants 
had come to Tiffin , with an aggregate capacity of sixty-five 
pots, or about two-th irds the volume produced in Fostoria at 
that time. Other interests on the lines were three brick-and­
til e yards, a pulp and paper works, two flour mills, a nai l fac­
tory, several machine shops, and a number of others. Between 
1885 and 1890, due at least in part to the advent of natural 
gas, the population of Tiffin increased from an estimated 8,000 
to 10,80 1. 20 

Toledo experienced no such prospe rity in connection with 
the Trenton gas fields as did the above-named smaller centers. 
For a time Toledo was forced to content itself with the serv­
ices of the Northweste rn Ohio Natural Gas Company. Finally, 
in 1889, permission was granted by the Legislature to estab­
lish a municipal gas plant, but here the City Trustees encount­
ered the powerful opposition of the private concern, backed by 
the immense wealth of the Standard Oi l. It can only be stated 

97 



Natural GtU Era 

here that Toledo succeeded fin ally in plprng gas from the 
Wood and H ancock County fields , but with an ultimate im­
mense loss to the taxpayers of Toledo. As a result of a long 
period of litigation, the city's gas bonds fail ed to se:!l; and 
when the dispute was finally settled in favor of Toledo in th e 
courts, it developed that the gas reservoirs were being rapidly 
exhausted . Hence, except in the field of domestic consumption, 
plus a few factories already in Toledo that switched to the new 
fuel, that city gained very little from the discO\'eries. 

The reserves of natural gas had been opened originally 
by private interests, with the intention of supplying the fue l to 
domestic consumers fo r heat and light. Rates were set at ap­
proxima tely two-thirds the ,cost of possible substitutes, a figure 
which left a substantial profit to the produce~ and at the same 
time represented a rea l bargain to the buyer. The widespread 
nature of the reserves, however, prevented the establ ishment 
of any practical monopoly. The owners of certain small manu­
factories, particularly those engaged in lime-burning, soon had 
drilled wells on their own properties, and demonstrated the 
superior qualities of natural gas as an inexpensive and con­
venient industrial fu el. The experience of these producers led 
to the movement to supply manufacturing industries on a large 
scale; and after the success of Findlay in attracting enterprise 
from elsewhere through municipal donations of free fuel , 
other towns in the area, in order to compete, were obliged to 
follow suit. 

1n the industrial use of natural gas, four industries were 
of outstanding importance. They were gl.ass-making, iron­
working, clay-working, and lime-burning. Each of these was 
attracted because fue l consistently represents a major cost of 
production in that respective industry. 

The glass industry was one of the first to arrive with the 
expanding development of the Trenton gas fields, and North­
western Ohio soon boasted a major concentration in th is line. 
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T he advent of free fuel had represented an important revolu­
tion in the localiz.ation of t he indust ry. Prior to t he discoveries 
of natural gas at Findlay, the chie f ce nters o f production in 
the Missi ssippi Va ll ey had been in western Pennsylvania, 'West 
Virginia , and southeastern Ohio. J ust as fuel resources in these 
sections were showing signs of weakness, the T renton fields 
were openi ng up; hence a strong and natura l movement of t his 
type of capita l and labor toward Northwestern O hio and In­
diana. 21 T he move was faci lit ated by the character of the 
industry, wh ich required a maximum of manual ski ll and a 
minimum of heavy equipment. 

At the peak of the boom, there we re approximately 500 
glass pots in operatio n in Northwestern Ohio; around 175 de­
voted to t he manufactu re of window glass, and more than 300 
for the production of table wa re, lamps, and chimneys. The 
total annual consumption of natu ral gas by th is one industry 
was estimated to be in the neighborhood of 6,750,000,000 
cubic feet per yea r, "an amount sufficient fo r the fuel dema nds 
of a population of 100,000 people for a yea r. "22 J ust as the 
glass indust ry was the largest user of gas, however, so was it 
t he source of a great dea l of the prosperity associated with the 
natural gas development. T he glass facto ries provided profit­
able employment for large numbers of people. Much of the 
labor was highly skilled and commanded high wages. 

An important portion of the natura l gas was diverted to 
the manufacture of iron. Unlike the glass industry, however, 
large numbers of iron working plants were no t attracted to the 
new fue l, due probably to the difficulty of t ransplanti ng any­
thing so mas$ive as a we ll established iron plant. F indlay was 
the only center near the field that attracted manufactories of 
iron p roducts to any subst':lntia l degree; and even in Findlay 
most of the plants were small in size compared to t hose in such 
centers as Pi ttsbu rgh or 'W heeling. In other 10calitieJi, use of 
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the gas in this industry was mainly restricted to plants that 
were on the ground prior to the boom. 

Iron processing] per manufactory, proved to be the greed­
iest of all ,consumers. Measurements were made in Findlay of 
the amount of gas consumed in the Briggs Works, which oper­
ated sixteen puddling furnaces, one heating furnace, and a bat­
tery of boilers. At a conservative estimate, the consumption by 
the mill was indicated to be more than 4,000,000 cubic feet per 
day. At this rate, this plant alone was using nearly 1,500,000,-
000 cubic feet per year. Z3 

Clay-working was one of two industries on this list that 
was indigenous to northwest Ohio. Drain tiles had long been 
in demand in the lake-p.1ain region for use in the reclamation 
of potentially fertile but low-lying areas. Building brick as well 
had long been produced, the raw materia l for these products 
be ing abundantly found in the heavy glacial clays of the region. 
Previous to the advent of natural gas, native timber had been 
used as fucl for the kilns. The wood, an otherwise wasted by­
product of farm clearing, had for many years been plentiful, 
but bulky and difficult to transport. Gas proved so much less 
costly, and so much more convenient, that it early usurped the 
place of wood. Costs of production were sharpl y reduced , with 
the result that an expanded output soon found its way into 
outside markets, undersel ling the products of other sections. 
Clay-working be~ame for a time extremely important in the 
economy of Northwestern Ohio, and one of the major consum­
ers of natural gas. 

Lime-bur:ning was the other native industrx that derived 
especial benefit from access to practically free fuel. Local re­
sources of high grade magnesian limestones, extraordina rily 
free from impurities, had made this industry profitable in the 
pre-gas era , when wood was the chief fuel. The lime of North­
western Ohio has long been considered to be of a quality 

100 



Russell S. McClure 

matching the best in the state. With access to free natural gas, 
costs were so sharply decreased that lime from Wood, San. 
dusky, H ancock, and Seneca Counties came for a time to domi· 
nate the markets as far away as Buffalo and Cincinna ti. 

In each industry of the foregoing group, the cost of fuel 
was a prime consideration in the iocation of the enterprise, 
The fact that manufactories in each of t hese lines were able 
to use free fuel in their processes was responsible in large 
measure for their success in this region. The advantage of free 
fuel more than overcame certain practical disadvantages infier. 
ent in their. location in Northwestern Ohio at that time ; as for 
instance, remoteness from large markets. In the light o f their 
success and rapid development, the widespread waste and 
prodigal carelessness which accompanied the use of na tural gas 
was nothing less than tragic. The ephemeral nature of the 
promising industrial development of 1885·1 890 was in large 
part due to the misuse which hastened the exhaustion of the 
gas reserves. 

Waste through ignorance and carelessness was early in 
evidence in the story of production in the field. Inexperience, 
plus lack of complete equipment resul ted in the loss of great 
quantities of gas, particularly in the ea rl ier wells. Some of 
these were allowed after drilling to run wide open while pipes 
and proper va lves, etc., we re sent for. In the period when com· 
petition for gas lands was at its height, the practice of sub­
dividing leaseholds into minute parcels resulted in multiplying 
the number of wells, a situation which hastened the exhaustion 
of the field. 

Beginning early in 1886, when the industria l boom began, 
the methods of advertising the strength and capacity of the 
field became a se rious drain on its resources. The ,practice was 
developed of lighting several of the big wells each night for 
the edification of tourists and prospective home-seekers. The 
great Karg well, one of the largest in the field, was allowed 
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duri ng the first severa l mo nths of its histo ry to pour out its 
vast volume unrestrained. A calculation made in 1887 indio 
cated t hat at the very lowest estima te the waste from th at 
single sou rce alone had, up to t hat time, been not less tha n 
1,500,000,000 cubic feet. Another source of extravagance was 
the ligh ting of t he various towns and villages in or ncar the 
fields by means of torches placed at close intervals down the 
pri nci pal st reets. T hese were allowed to burn night and day 
during most of the year-a loss of not less than 15,000,000 
cu bic fee t per month in Find lay alone. 24 

VVaste in the use of the gas was also widesp read, on the 
part of both industria l and domestic consumers. The chie f 
explanation for this lies in the fact that only after the greater 
proport ion o f the resources had been ex hausted were sui t able 
mete rs int roduced for measu ring the quantities consumed. 
Rates were based on the numbe r of burners employed, or avail. 
able, not on the qua ntity of gas actually use. T his mean t that 
for private dwellings it was often more convenient to open the 
windows than to shu t off the gas. In industry, it mean that in­
efficient and outmoded fu rnaces and boi lers remained in use 
long afte r they needed scra..pp ing, after they had ceased to 
give economica l performance. A very la rge proport ion of 
industrial equ ipmen t was found in a survey to be in poor con· 
dition, and would surely have been r.epl aced had tht: U~ _~ been 
sold by measurement. 

The combination o f intensi ve indust rial use and prodiga l 
waste proved in a ve ry few years to be too much even for the 
tremendous accumulations of fuel in the T renton formati on. 
In Findlay, the T rustees had fai led to provide fo r possible 
slackening of the su pply by leasi ng lands outside of Findlay 
T ownship, bei ng apparently co nvinced o f the inex ha ustib ili ty of 
their loca l reserves. A po licy based on such expectations was 
bound to end in disaster. As the winter o f 1888·89 set in and 
the heavier drafts occasioned by cold wea ther were fel t, com-
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plaints were heard from several sec tions (or want of adequate 
gas. A check showed salt water, along with some oil, to have 
invaded the pipes. When it was discovered that the bulk of 
the trouble had come from the Karg well, which had so far 
been the mainstay of the line, it became apparent, even to 
promoters, that the end of the local supply was at hand. 

The Trustees managed ,. by leasing some 8000 acres in the 
northern part of the county, to gain a reprieve; but the shock 
checked and sobered the expansion of Findlay. Early in the 
'90's even the new supply proved insufficient, and the larger 
facto ries were dropped from the li ne. They were followed 
later by the smaller concerns, and by the turn of the century 
the gas was uti lized only for domestic requirements. ' Vith the 
failure of the gas, there began a general exodus of industry. 
The larger glass factories soon had moved on to greener pas­
tures, particularly in the Indiana fields; and many of the smal­
le r enterpr ises had been forced out of business. T he same tend· 
cncy also was strongly evident in other industries. 2 1:i 

Other portions of t he Trenton field duplicated H ancock 
County's record. In 18~O Bowling Green saw the end of gas in 
la rge volume. Fostoria and Tiffin shortly afterward found 
themselves unable to cope with the large demands of their own 
industri es. L ater, the powerfu l Northwestern Ohio Natural 
Gas Company met the same fate. Th is organization had en· 
tered tIle field early and obtained large contigous areas in 
the heart of the important Bloom Township fie ld, which it had 
been able to protect from "over-drilling," and had fu r ther 
used all known techniques of prolonging the supply. But by 
1902, though it still had some forty-five producing wells, the 
fu el obtained was barely enough to provide power for two 
oil-pumping stations of the Buckeye Pipe Line Company, an· 
other Standard Oil subsidiary. 

Very f~w direct evidences of the gas boom remain today. 
Only in rare instances are the modern manufacto ri es descended 
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from plants that sprang up or moved in at that time, though a 
number of concerns are still in operation that had been in the 
field prior to the gas discoveries. That is not to say that nat­
ural gas was unimportant in th_~ development of Northwestern 
Ohio; indeed, it must be considered a major factor in the evo­
lution toward the present landscape. Its influence, however, 
has been largely indirect. 

First, the attraction of la rge numbers of people during 
the gas boom made for a more equi table distribution of the 
population of Ohio, wh.ich prevails today. Until that time, 
though a potentially productive area, Northwestern Ohio was 
comparatively sparsely populated. Today it compares favor­
ably with other rural areas in the state. 26 

Second, the sudden influx of large amounts of capital from 
outside areas made an ex~ens.ive program of land improvement 
possible, both in the towns and in the agricultural areas. Each 
center, during the boom, had carried out a program of civic 
improvement: streets were improved, sewers were laid, new 
water plants constructed, the schools expanded, and new homes 
and stores built. Steps were taken that might h"!ve waited for 
years without the advent of the industrial expansion. Similarly, 
the rural areas profited. With access to theretofo re un­
dreamed-of quantiti es of capital, it became possible to under­
take the improvement and reclamation of farming lands on Il 
large scale. As a result, the productive capacity of the region 
was multiplied. Finally, the increased industrial and commer­
cial activity during the period necessita ted the expansion of the 
transportation system, and the improvement of existing facili­
ties. 

In a word, the gift of natural gas, though itse lf tempo­
rary, went a long way toward providing Northwestern Ohio 
with the tools necessary to realize a more permanent prosper­
ity based on the surfac~ resources of the region. 
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